FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON als
3/28/2019ivision I
BY SUSANSLAGARLSON gton
CLERK 019 3:25 PM

No. 97003-3

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

No. 77854-4

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

KATI JOHANNA SOTANIEMI, Respondent,

v.

BRIAN MICHAEL RIBNICKY,

Petitioner.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Attorneys for Petitioner

Natalia Litchev, WSBA No. 40520 Litchev Law Firm 600 108th Avenue NE, Suite 650 Bellevue, WA 98004 (425) 999-9061 natalia@eastsideattorney.com

A. Identity of Petitioner.

The petitioner is the Appellant Brian Ribnicky in the Court of Appeals ("Father".)¹

B. Court of Appeals Decision.

Petitioner seeks review of the Court of Appeals' unpublished decision of December 10, 2018, affirming the trial court's decision imposing of RCW 26.09.191 restrictions on the Father's custodial rights and findings pertaining to the same. A copy of the decision is attached as App. A. The Court of Appeals denied petitioner's timely motion for reconsideration on February 20, 2019. The Order is attached as App. B.

C. Issue Presented for Review.

- 1. Can a trial court impose restrictions on a parent under RCW 26.09.191 (".191 restrictions") for an alleged "history of acts of domestic violence" or an assault "that causes grievous bodily harm or the fear of such harm, based on non-substantive hearsay evidence?
- 2. Are stock grants, provided to a parent as part of their employment compensation income, under RCW 26.19.071, included as income for purposes of child support?

¹ The Father was the Petitioner in the trial court seeking to establish parenting plan for the parties' son.

D. Statement of the Case.

This case involves the entry of a Parenting Plan and Order of Child Support for parenting and support of a minor child ("EJS" or "the child").

1. Parenting Plan: the Court of Appeals affirmed the decision of the trial court that the Mother, who had not testified, met her burden to prove .191 restrictions against the Father by relying on her prior unsworn hearsay statements to the parenting evaluator.

The respondent Kati Sotaniemi ("the Mother") failed to appear and testify at trial. CP 687:19-25. Prior to the trial, she had made unsworn allegations of DV against the Father to the parenting evaluator. At trial, the Mother's allegations were presented in the form of the parenting evaluator's notes containing the unsworn statements of the Mother to her. (Trial Ex 70) Based on interviews with the parties and their collateral contacts, the parenting evaluator concluded that there was no domestic violence. (CP 294, Trial Ex 58) The notes, as part of the entire file, were presented to the trial court to support the conclusions and recommendations of the parenting evaluator. However, the trial court found domestic violence despite the conclusion of the parenting evaluator and based primarily on the Mother's hearsay statements to the parenting evaluator. CP 693-715.

In the closing argument, the Father emphasized that the trial court should not rely on the unsworn statements of the Mother as substantive evidence to impose restrictions on him. (RT 528, 533-541, 544.) Not only had the Father not had opportunity to cross-examine the Mother on her

statements to the parenting evaluator, but the Mother had not even testified under the penalty of perjury regarding the truthfulness of said statements.

The trial court disagreed with the findings of the parenting evaluator, uncontroverted testimony of the Father and his closing argument and substantially limited the Father's constitutional custodial rights for his son, including the loss of legal custody/decision making right. CP 693-715.

The Court of Appeals affirmed, essentially finding that the Mother's hearsay statements to the parenting evaluator presented via the parenting evaluator's notes was substantial evidence of domestic violence because the hearsay was admitted into record due to an invited error. (Opinion 4-6, 10-14.) The Court of Appeals also opined that the trial court could rely on non-substantive evidence because the Father failed to give a limiting instruction under ER 105 to the judge presiding over the bench trial at the time the evidence was offered. (Opinion 6, incl. footnote 16)

The Father moved the Court of Appeals for reconsideration, arguing that the issue was not the admissibility of the notes but improper reliance of the trial court on the unsworn statements of a non-witness who could not be cross-examined on those statements. The Father also argued that the limiting instruction under ER 105 only applies to jury trials. The Court of Appeal denied the Motion for Reconsideration on February 20, 2019. (App. B) This Petition for Review timely followed.

2. Order of Child Support: the Court of Appeal affirmed the trial court's failure to include the Mother's stock award per her W-2 form in her income for purposes of child support.

The Court of Appeal affirmed the trial court's failure to include the Mother's stock grant award, which was included in her W2 form and 2016 Federal Tax Return as salary, in the Mother's gross income for purposes of child support calculation, as mandated by RCW 26.19.071. (Opinion 22-23)

The Mother did not provide any testimony regarding why this amount should not be included in her income for child support purposes.

Stock Awards (a.k.a. Restricted Stock Units or "RSU") are different from the Stock Options and no previous court decision in this state has dealt with the issue. The Court of Appeals declined to opine on this issue of first impression claiming there was not enough information regarding possible restrictions on vesting, despite the fact that the Mother's W2 and tax return were of record, clearly indicating that the Mother received the value of the stock and it was included in her W2 and tax return as taxable income thus the stock had vested and any restrictions on vesting had been removed.

E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

1. THE COURT SHOULD REVIEW THE COURT OF APPEALS DECISION AFFIRMING RCW 26.09.191 RESTRICTIONS ON FATHER' CUSTODIAL RIGHTS SOLELY BASED ON HEARSAY NON-SUBSTANTIVE EVIDENCE, UNDER RAP 13.4(b)(1) AND (2) BECAUSE THE DECISION CONFLICTS WITH RCW 26.09.191(6), ER 105 AND PUBLISHED OPINIONS OF THIS COURT AND COURT OF APPEALS.

By affirming the trial court's findings in support of its imposition of RCW 26.09.191 restrictions on the Father, based on "substantial evidence" that consisted entirely of hearsay evidence presented through the parenting evaluator, the Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with RCW 26.09.191(6), which requires courts to "apply the civil rules of evidence, proof and procedure" to hearings involving parental custody restrictions.

The decision is also inconsistent with this Court's decision, *In re Ross*, 45 Wn.2d 654, 655-656, 277 P.2d 335 (1954), which holds that "[f]athers and mothers should not be deprived of their parental rights on hearsay, which is but another form of unsworn testimony." See also *Caven v. Caven*, 136 Wn.2d 800, 809, 966 P.2d 1247 (1998), which holds that "mere accusations, without proof, are not sufficient to invoke the restrictions" under RCW 26.09.191 and Division Three's decision *In re Welfare of J.M.*, 130 Wn. App. 912, 925, 125 P.3d 245 (2005), which holds that hearsay evidence testified to, and relied on, by an expert witness is not "substantive evidence" that can be relied on by the court; *see also Group Health Co-op. of Puget Sound, Inc. v. State Through Dep't of Revenue*, 106 Wn.2d 391, 399–400, 722 P.2d 787 (1986) ("The trial court may allow the admission of otherwise hearsay evidence and inadmissible facts for the

purpose of showing the basis of the expert's opinion. The admission of these facts, however, is not proof of them.")(internal cited source omitted.)

Further, the decision allowing the trial court to rely on non-substantive hearsay evidence due to an "invited error" as the Father was to give a limiting instruction to the judge presiding over the bench trial is inconsistent with ER 105, which unequivocally states that a limiting instruction re evidence applies only to jury trials.

Review is warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(1), and (2).

i. Non-substantive hearsay evidence of domestic violence offered in lieu of testimony may not qualify as "substantial evidence" under RCW 26.09.191 (6), even if admitted into record, because of the due process guarantee for a fair hearing.

RCW 26.09.191(6) requires that "in determining whether any of the [domestic violence] conduct described in this section has occurred, the court shall apply the civil rules of evidence, proof, and procedure." The Mother made allegations of domestic violence ("DV") against the Father and therefore she had the burden to prove her allegations. *Caven v. Caven*, 136 Wn.2d 800, 809, 966 P.2d 1247 (1998.) She did not meet her burden by relying on non-substantive hearsay evidence.

This Court in *In re Ross*, 45 Wn.2d 654, 655-656, 277 P.2d 335 (1954) stated that "[f]athers and mothers should not be deprived of their parental rights on hearsay, which is but another form of unsworn

testimony." In *Ross*, the court admitted into record a cross-complaint containing the absent-from-trial mother's allegations against the father in another matter, and incorporated statements from that cross-complaint into findings. This Court reversed and held in *Ross*, that *inter alia*, it was an error to "dignify [the cross-complaint's] allegations by setting them out in the findings of fact." *Id.*, 656. Here, the trial court similarly relied on the absentee Mother's self-serving hearsay allegations to a third party. It was an error, resulting in the Father's permanent loss of decision making rights and severely limited residential schedule for many years and perhaps permanently.

Because "[a] parent's right to control and to have the custody of his children is a fundamental civil right," procedures used to abridge these parental rights must meet the requisites of the due process clause of the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution. *In re Dependency of A.J.*, 189 Wn.App. 381, 396, 357 P.3d 68 (Div. 1 2015) citing *In re Dependency of K.N.J.*, 171 Wn.2d 568, 574, 257 P.3d 522 (2011).

Here, the hearing terminating the Father's legal custody (decision making) rights to his child and liming the physical custody was rendered unfair and meaningless when the trial court relied on hearsay non-substantive evidence to support its findings. The Father was prejudiced by the lower courts' reliance on hearsay evidence regarding the alleged DV.

Because the allegations of DV came solely through the parenting evaluator's description of statements by the Mother, rather than directly from the Mother, the Father was unable to cross-examine the Mother on those statements. The Father argued that the centerfold of the due process issue is not whether the Father was entitled to cross-examination per se or whether his due process rights were violated by the Mother's absence (Opinion 8-9) but rather that the reasons that hearsay cannot be fairly considered "substantive evidence" because of the due process guarantee for a fair hearing.

"The hearsay rule, which has long been recognized and respected by virtually every State, is based on experience and grounded in the notion that untrustworthy evidence should not be presented to the triers of fact. Out-of-court statements are traditionally excluded because they lack the conventional indicia of reliability: they are usually not made under oath or other circumstances that impress the speaker with the solemnity of his statements; the declarant's word is not subject to cross-examination; and he is not available in order that his demeanor and credibility may be assessed by the jury." *Dependency of Penelope B.*, 104 Wn.2d 643, 651, 709 P.2d 1185 (1985.)

Here, the Mother gave her statements to the parenting evaluator during the process of evaluation as to what custodial arrangement would be

in the best interest of the child. The Mother was not under oath and in a situation when many parents are prone to make self-serving, emotional, exaggerated and inaccurate statements. The Mother later did not appear for trial and thus declined to solemnly repeat her statements under penalty of perjury directly to the court. The Mother failed to provide a direct and clear explanation why she declined to do so. In light of the Mother's voluntary lack of direct testimony, her prior hearsay statements should have been disregarded by the lower court.

Further, the opinions of the Court of Appeals clearly qualifies evidence from third party experts as non-substantive evidence. *In re Welfare of J.M.*, 130 Wn.App. 912, 925, 125 P.3d 245 (2005) citing *State v. Wineberg*, 74 Wash.2d 372, 382, 444 P.2d 787 (1968) ('An expert's use of the written reports of absent witnesses is not substantive evidence; they are admissible solely to show the grounds upon which the testifying expert's opinion is based." Id., 925); *see also Allen v. Asbestos Corp., Ltd.*, 138 Wn. App. 564, 580, ¶31, 157 P.3d 406 (2007) (trial court properly struck hearsay statements, on which the expert witness relied in forming its opinion being non-substantive evidence). In *Welfare of J.M.*, 130 Wn. App. 912, the Court reversed a judgment terminating appellant's parental rights because the evidence relied on by the trial court – expert reports – was presented solely through the guardian ad litem/case manager. The experts themselves were

not present at trial, and the guardian ad litem/case manager "were merely the communicators" of the expert statements and opinions. This Court therefore vacated the judgment because it was entered after a hearing that "was neither meaningful nor fair," and agreed with the appellant's assertion that "fairness required an opportunity to test both the written expert opinions and the oral subjective accounts confrontation and cross-examination." $Welfare\ of\ J.M.$, 130 Wn. App. at 923, ¶ 28, at 925, ¶ 38.

Here, in affirming the trial court's findings in support of the RCW 26.09.191 restrictions on the Father, the Court of Appeals relied entirely² on the parenting evaluator's notes, which merely contained the Mother's unsworn allegations of DV against the Father. (*See* Opinion 10-16, citing throughout to Exhibit 70 "Mental Status Examination - Ms Sotaniemi". But the parenting evaluator's notes containing the Mother's allegations of DV are not "substantive evidence", those are simply the Mother's allegations that she presented to the parenting evaluator, on which the parenting evaluator relied in making its recommendations to the trial court. The Court of Appeals seemed to accept that by stating "Wheeler's notes contained **evidence of** Sotaniemi's **allegation** that Ribnicky

² Other than the notes/testimony of the parenting evaluator, the trial court considered on a photograph introduced by the Mother via the parenting evaluator and the Father's e-mails; the Court of Appeals did not address those issues (Opinion 7) relying solely on the parenting evaluator's notes to affirm.

"attacked" her in Florida [..]" (Opinion 7, emphasis added) While "evidence of allegation" was admissible to show the basis for the parenting evaluator's recommendations, it was neither "proof" of the allegations nor substantive evidence of domestic violence. However, the Court of Appeals affirmed, concluding that the Parenting Evaluator's notes was substantial evidence that supported the finding of DV/assault. (*See* Opinion 2, 7, 12-14)

In affirming, the Court of Appeals appeared to recognize that the Mother's unsworn allegations could not be relied on as "substantive evidence." (Opinion 5) However, it concluded that the Father "invited error" since he was the one who had elicited testimony from the parenting evaluator regarding the allegations of DV conveyed to her by the Mother, and offered the parenting evaluator's notes into evidence. (Opinion 6) But, as allowed by ER 703 and ER 705, the Father offered the evidence to show the basis for the parenting evaluator's opinion finding no domestic violence, and not as substantive evidence of DV. See *Welfare of J.M.*, 130 Wn. App. 912, 924, ¶ 34, 125 P.3d 245 (2005). Under ER 705, the parenting evaluator could testify to the facts she considered in forming her opinion, including what would otherwise be inadmissible hearsay evidence, such as the Mother's DV allegations. See *Guardianship of Stamm v. Crowley*, 121 Wn. App. 830, 837, 91 P.3d 126 (2004) (GAL statute "contemplates that hearsay

will be a basis for the GAL's opinions. And in order to evaluate the GAL's opinions, the fact finder needs to know the basis for them").

The Court of Appeals further opined that the Father was to give a limiting instruction under ER 105 at the time of the presentation of the evidence to the judge presiding over the bench trial, in order for the judge not to consider the evidence as substantive. (Opinion 6) The opinion is contrary to ER 105, which is clear that the limiting instruction only applies to a jury trial. An unambiguous statute will be interpreted based on its plain meaning. State, Dept. of Ecology v. Campbell & Gwinn, L.L.C., 146 Wn.2d 1, 10, 43 P.3d 4 (2002.) Under the plain and unambiguous meaning of ER 105, Appellant was not required to lodge a request a limiting instruction to the judge. It is presumed that the trial court will consider expert's testimony only for the basis of the expert's opinion and not as substantive evidence. In re Det. of P.K., 189 Wn. App. 317, 325, 358 P.3d 411 (2015) (affirmed trial court declining to view the expert's opinion based on medical records as substantive evidence). The judge is presumed to have knowledge of the law, in this case that hearsay statements to a third party albeit admissible as evidence of the background of the parenting evaluator's findings, may not be considered as substantive evidence. *Id.*, 325.

Here, the judge was presiding over a bench trial and did not require a limited instruction regarding whether or not he should rely on the nonsubstantive hearsay evidence, because the law says he could not do so. The issue on appeal was not admissibility of the non-substantive evidence, but whether the trial court improperly relied on it in terminating the Father's legal custody right and ordering severe physical custody restrictions without affording the Father an opportunity to cross-examine the Mother on those allegations thus having prejudiced the Father.

The Court of Appeals found that because the Father did not object to the Mother's absence at trial, her absence did not violate the Father's due process rights (Opinion 9). However, her absence placed the Father in the prejudicial position when he was placed in a position to present disproving evidence while he had no duty to do so. See *State v. Thorgerson*, 172 Wn.2d 438, 453, 258 P.3d 43 (2011). In the context of the child custody right restrictions hearing, the Court's reliance on the Mother's prior hearsay statements rendered the hearing "neither meaningful nor fair" under *Welfare of J.M.*, *supra*.

The Court of Appeals recognized the *Mathews* test to determine the level of due process protection (Opinion 8). However, the Court of Appeals applied the *Mathews* test through the prism of the *Aiken* case, rather than analyze and apply the *Mathews* test directly to the case at bar. The facts in *Aiken* are distinguishable in that the wife has testified in *Aiken* while here the Mother has not. Further, *Aiken* involved the DVPA matter where the

civil rules of evidence did not apply (RCW 26.50) while here the civil rules of evidence, proof and procedure "shall" be followed (RCW 26.09.191(6))

Applying the *Mathews* test to this case it is clear that (1) the private interest of parent to rear his child is of paramount importance; (2) the risk of hearsay statements being unreliable evidence, which may cause judicial errors is great and (3) the government interest that each parent has equal access to the child absent .191 conduct is outlined in RCW 26.09.187 (3) while the procedural safeguards are quite simple and do not require any additional burden on the court: the court should simply not consider unsworn non-substantive hearsay (even if admissible) as substantive evidence of wrongdoing.

ii. Mother failed to meet her burden of proof; without the hearsay evidence there is no substantial evidence to support a finding that the Father had a "history of domestic violence" or committed an assault.

By affirming the trial court's finding that the Father had a history of acts of DV or committed an assault based on hearsay allegations made by the Mother to the parenting evaluator, to which allegations the Mother did not testify, the Court of Appeals decision conflicts with this Court's decision, *Caven v. Caven*, 136 Wn.2d 800, 809, 966 P.2d 1247 (1998), holding that "mere accusations, without proof, are not sufficient to invoke the restrictions" under RCW 26.09.191. In *Caven*, the petitioner was concerned that a parent would be incentivized to allege domestic violence

in order to obtain sole legal custody, while this Court stated that there must be proof of those allegations for the trial court to make a .191 finding. In this case, the Mother's unsworn statements to the parenting evaluator (without the Mother's testimony) were just that — evidence of mere accusations, which the Court of Appeals found to be "substantial evidence" to affirm.

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