FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 5/7/2019 3:40 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

No. 97003-3

Court of Appeals No. 77854-4-I

IN THE SUPREME COURT FOR THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

Parenting of:

E.J.S.,

Minor Child,

BRIAN M. RIBNICKY,

Petitioner,

٧.

KATI J. SOTANIEMI,

Respondent.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

MASTERS LAW GROUP, P.L.L.C.
Kenneth W. Masters, WSBA 22278
Shelby R. Frost Lemmel, WSBA 33099
241 Madison Avenue North
Bainbridge Island, WA 98110
(206) 780-5033
ken@appeal-law.com
shelby@appeal-law.com
Attorneys for Respondent

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

D. Ribnicky's appeal challenged only one of the two RCW 26.09.191 restrictions imposed.

The final orders impose RCW 26.09.191 restrictions on Ribnicky based on a history of domestic violence, assault, and Ribnicky's long-term problem with alcohol. CP 693. The court expressly found that Ribnicky "did not object to [the] assertion" that his "long-term problem with alcohol ... gets in the way of his ability to parent." CP 689-90. This was "amply supported by the evidence, including without limitation [Ribnicky's own] testimony and Dr. Wheeler's testimony." *Id.* The court based the domestic violence .191 restriction on all the evidence including, but not limited to, a photograph of Sotaniemi's bruised body following the Florida incident (Ex 118), the post-incident emails between the parties (Ex 106), and Ribnicky's lack of credibility regarding domestic violence. *Id.*

E. Ribnicky's statement of the case is inaccurate.

Ribnicky provides little if any factual background, instead relaying only some of this matter's procedural history. It is often inaccurate, or worse. Sotaniemi responds as needed.

Ribnicky states that Sotaniemi's domestic violence allegations "were presented in the form of the parenting evaluator's notes containing the unsworn statements of the Mother to her." Pet. at 2. He omits that he raised domestic violence knowing full well that Sotaniemi would not testify and that he offered the notes into evidence without limitation or restriction. RP 48-51, 169-70.

Ribnicky claims Wheeler "concluded that there was no domestic violence." Pet. at 2. That is inaccurate at best. Wheeler opined that Sotaniemi "experience[d] an incident of violence that was very frightening to her" and that she "genuinely [has] fears of Father and the risk he poses." RP 150, 153. Although she found a "pattern" of verbal abuse, she did not find a "pattern" of "physical domestic violence." RP 146-47. Rather, she characterized the Florida incident as "an act of physical aggression." RP 206-07.

Ribnicky claims that the trial court's domestic violence .191 restriction is based "primarily on [Sotaniemi's] hearsay statements to the parenting evaluator." Pet. at 2 (citing CP 693-715). This too is

false. The court expressly based its domestic violence .191 restriction on Ribnicky's lack of candor on the subject, as well as the photo of Sotaniemi's bruised body, and the email correspondence following the Florida incident. CP 690.

Ribnicky claims that in closing, he "emphasized that the trial court should not rely on the unsworn statements of the Mother as substantive evidence to impose restrictions on him." Pet. at 2. He ignores the appellate court's correct holdings: (1) that Wheeler did not repeat Sotaniemi's out of court assertions; and (2) that Ribnicky's closing on this point was vague, unspecific, and untimely. Unpub. Op. at 5-6.

Ribnicky next mischaracterizes the appellate court's decision.

Pet. at 3. Sotaniemi responds in the argument, *infra*.

REASONS THIS COURT SHOULD DENY REVIEW

A. The appellate decision does not present the issues Ribnicky asks this Court to review.

Ribnicky's first, and principal, issue presented for review is whether a trial court may impose RCW 26.09.191 restrictions "based on non-substantive hearsay evidence." Pet. at 1. His argument that the appellate decision creates a conflict in the law rests on the assertion that the appellate court affirmed "the trial court's findings in support of its imposition of RCW 26.09.191 restrictions on the Father,

based on 'substantial evidence' that consisted entirely of hearsay evidence presented through the parenting evaluator" Pet. at 5, 7-8 (same), 16 (same). That is false. The appellate court correctly rejected Ribnicky's assertion that Wheeler merely repeated hearsay, and correctly held that Ribnicky waived the argument in any event. Ribnicky's petition fails to address the court's actual holdings. This Court should deny review.

1. Ribnicky ignores the appellate court's correct holding that the parenting evaluator's testimony did not repeat Sotaniemi's out-of-court statements.

Ribnicky's appeal is premised on the false assertion that Wheeler merely repeated hearsay. Pet. at 5, 7-8, 16. Wheeler testified about Sotaniemi's experience of domestic violence without once re-stating her out-of-court assertions. Unpub. Op. at 5. As the appellate court held, Ribnicky does not provide any citations to the record purporting to show otherwise. *Id.*; Pet. 5-16.

Ribnicky himself elicited Wheeler's testimony that Sotaniemi "experience[d] an incident of violence that was very frightening to her" and that Ribnicky had admitted physically restraining Sotaniemi from leaving during the Florida incident. RP 150, 206. Ribnicky also elicited Wheeler's testimony that Sotaniemi feared Ribnicky and that she had a reasonable basis for her fears and anxiety. RP 150-51.

Wheeler opined, without objection, that Sotaniemi experienced "emotional and physical abuse." RP 178.

The appellate court correctly held: (1) that Ribnicky failed to demonstrate that Wheeler merely repeated Sotaniemi's statements; and (2) that the record contradicted that claim:

Ribnicky claims Wheeler's testimony constituted hearsay because she "relayed unsworn statements that had been offered by the Mother during the evaluator's investigations."

Ribnicky fails to provide any specific citations to the record where the parenting evaluator relayed Sotaniemi's unsworn statements. A review of the record reveals Wheeler's testimony focused on her recommendations concerning the parenting plan rather than hearsay statements. We are not obligated "to comb the record" where counsel has failed to support arguments with citations to the record.

Unpub. Op. at 5 (citations omitted). Ribnicky waived appellate review for the additional reason that he failed to timely object at trial. *Bercier v. Kiga*, 127 Wn. App. 809, 825, 103 P.3d 232 (2004) (citations omitted). During Wheeler's entire examination, Ribnicky never once claimed that her testimony was hearsay. Rather, Ribnicky raised a single hearsay objection to a photograph of Sotaniemi following the Florida incident. RP 175-77. This photo, whose admission Ribnicky no longer challenges, shows Sotaniemi covered in bruises. Ex 118. The court rejected Ribnicky's claim as to how they got there. CP 690.

In short, the factual predicate for Ribnicky's principal issue presented for review is false. Since he fails to demonstrate that the trial court's decision rests on hearsay, he cannot demonstrate that the appellate holding affirming the trial court conflicts with existing law that hearsay is not "substantive evidence." Pet. at 5-6. Rather, the appellate decision simply does not present that issue. This Court should deny review.

2. Ribnicky ignores the appellate court's holding that he invited any error with respect to the parenting evaluator's notes, so waived appellate review.

Ribnicky claims that the appellate court affirmed based "entirely" on Wheeler's notes, and "opined" that the trial court could rely on those notes because Ribnicky "failed to give a limiting instruction under ER 105" Pet. at 3, 5, 10-12. This is false.

The appellate court held that Ribnicky waived any error as to Wheeler's notes by offering them into evidence without restriction:

Under the invited error doctrine, a party may not set up an error at trial and then complain of it on appeal. The doctrine applies when a party takes affirmative and voluntary action that induces the trial court to take an action that party later challenges on appeal. Ribnicky cannot complain the trial court improperly admitted or considered Wheeler's notes when he offered Wheeler's notes containing Sotaniemi's allegations into evidence without restriction and without requesting a limiting instruction.

Unpub. Op. at 6 (citations omitted). Contrary to Ribnicky's unsupported assertions, the appellate court did not address whether the trial court: (1) *did* consider the notes as substantive evidence; or (2) *could* consider the notes as substantive evidence. Compare *id.*, *with* Pet. at 10-11. Nor did it hold that Ribnicky had to ask the court for a limiting instruction. Pet. at 6, 10-12. Instead, the court held only that a party invites an alleged error when it offers evidence into the record without limitation or restriction, later claiming that the trial court erroneously considered it for an impermissible purpose. Unpub. Op. at 6. This is the epitome of an invited error. *Grange Ins. Ass'n v. Roberts*, 179 Wn. App. 739, 774, 320 P.3d 77 (2013).

Moreover, Ribnicky acknowledges that "the Court of Appeals appeared to recognize that [Sotaniemi's] unsworn allegations could not be relied on as 'substantive evidence." Pet. at 11 (citing Unpub. Op. at 5). What he refers to is the court's correct holding that an expert may rely on inadmissible evidence, but that such reliance does not render the inadmissible evidence admissible. *Id.* This correct statement of the law does not present a conflict.

Nor does Ribnicky offer any support for his suggestion that the trial court (or appellate court) considered Wheeler's testimony for an impermissible purpose. Pet. at 10-13. Appellate courts presume that the trial court presiding over a bench trial disregards inadmissible evidence. *Detention of P.K.*, 189 Wn. App. 317, 325, 358 P.3d 411 (2015) (citing *Marriage of Crosetto*, 65 Wn.2d 366, 368, 397 P.2d 418 (1964)).

3. Ribnicky ignores his own testimony admitting facts sufficient to support the RCW 26.09.191 restrictions.

Ribnicky did not appeal from the trial court's findings that he suffers from a long-term problem with alcohol that affects his parenting. BA 2-3; CP 689-90, 693. That finding is amply supported by Ribnicky's own admissions that he has a moderate alcohol use disorder, that he has a history of "excessive" drinking, that he has a "problem" with alcohol consumption, and that he became "aggressive" when drinking. RP 47, 307, 419, 424-25, 434; Ex 106. Again, Ribnicky never challenged the substance-abuse .191.

As for the domestic violence .191 restriction, Ribnicky himself raised verbal and physical abuse, admitting verbal abuse such as arguing, name-calling, and saying "mean things," including that Sotaniemi is "fat and lazy, controlling, and hypocritical and ignorant." RP 48, 420, 424-25. He attempted to minimize the Florida incident, underreporting his alcohol consumption. *Compare* RP 48-49, 51, *with* Ex 69 at 3. He claimed he only "tapped" E.S. and denied

grabbing Sotaniemi, despite admitting as much to Wheeler. *Compare* RP 50-51, *with* Ex 69 at 17. He profusely apologized for what appeared to be far more serious acts than he described. RP 510-13. This lacked credibility. CP 690.

Ribnicky dedicates a single paragraph to his claim that absent the alleged hearsay, there was insufficient evidence to support the domestic violence .191. Pet. at 16. This Court need not address such an insufficient argument. *Dickson v. Kates*, 132 Wn. App. 724, 733 n.10, 133 P.3d 498 (2006) (citations omitted). That said, the evidence Ribnicky ignores amply supports the domestic violence .191.

Domestic violence includes physical harm and fear of imminent physical harm. RCW 26.09.191(2)(a), 26.50.010(3). Setting aside Wheeler's notes for the sake of argument, Wheeler testified, without objection, that Sotaniemi has experienced a pattern of domestic violence. RP 146-47. She agreed that there was a frightening episode of physical violence in Florida. RP 149-51, 211-12. She attested that Sotaniemi genuinely feared Ribnicky. RP 150-51, 153, 178-79, 188-89. Her testimony came in the context of: (1) Ribnicky apologizing profusely for hurting E.S. and Sotaniemi; and (2) the court disbelieving his account. Ex 106; CP 690.

The Florida incident was not isolated – it occurred after years of yelling, swearing, name-calling, and other aggressive drunk behavior. RP 48-51, 419-20, 424-25, 434. The Florida incident also was not *de minimis* – it left Sotaniemi covered in bruises and needing a protective order. RP 149-51, 153, 178-79, 188-89, 211-12, 510-13; Exs 106, 118; CP 151-60.

In short, the appellate decision does not actually present the issue Ribnicky asks this Court to review: whether RCW 26.09.191 restrictions may be based on hearsay. Pet. at 1. This is equally true for the second issue presented for review. *Infra*, Arg. § C. This Court should deny review.

B. Ribnicky's remaining arguments on the RCW 26.09.191 restrictions fail to meet any ground for review.

Ribnicky argues that since the domestic violence allegations "came solely through [Wheeler's] description of statements by" Sotaniemi, Ribnicky was denied the right to cross-examination. Pet. at 7-8. He raises similar due process concerns. Pet. at 13. He argues that the appellate court misapplied *Mathews v. Eldredge* "through the prism" of *Aiken v. Aiken*, rather than applying it "directly to the case at bar." Pet. at 13-14 (addressing *Mathews*, 424 U.S. 319, 96 S.Ct. 893, 47 L.Ed. 18 (1976); *Aiken*, 187 Wn.2d 491, 387 P.3d 680

(2017)). Ribnicky omits the appellate court's correct holding that he failed to preserve this issue:

Unlike *Aiken*, Ribnicky never sought to cross-examine Sotaniemi. At the start of trial, Sotaniemi's counsel informed the court that Sotaniemi would not be attending trial. Ribnicky did not object to Sotaniemi's absence, he did not seek to compel her attendance under CR 43, and he did not ask to shorten time to compel her attendance. We conclude Ribnicky failed to preserve this issue for appeal.

Unpub. Op. at 8-9. Ribnicky also omits that he relied on *Aiken*. *Id*. at 8; BA 23-25; BR 28-30. Thus, he cannot now complain that the appellate court considered it. Pet. at 13-14.

Ribnicky also seems to misunderstand this point, arguing that he did not have the burden to elicit Sotaniemi's testimony. Pet. at 15. The point is not that Ribnicky *had to* seek Sotaniemi's testimony, but that he could have and elected not to. Unpub. Op. at 8-9.

In short, this Court should not review an issue the appellate court declined to consider because it was not properly preserved.

C. This Court should decline to review the distribution of restricted stock units.

Ribnicky asks this Court to accept review to determine whether Restricted Stock Units ("RSU") should be included in income for purposes of calculating child support. Pet. at 1, 17-20. But because the record is inadequate, the appellate court declined to reach this issue. This Court should deny review.

Ribnicky claims, without any support, that the trial court failed to include RSUs in Sotaniemi's income when calculating child support. Pet. at 17-20. What he actually refers to is income reflected in Sotaniemi's W-2 comprised of a nonrecurring signing bonus, relocation expenses, and a stock spread award. BR 44-45; CP 793. Ribnicky conceded on appeal that the non-recurring income is excluded. BA 45. Stock grants are not included as income for purposes of calculating support unless the stock is sold. *Marriage of Ayyad*, 110 Wn. App. 462, 468-69, 38 P.3d 1033 (2002).

Ribnicky attempts to distinguish *Ayyad*, and to persuade this Court to adopt a few foreign cases. Pet. at 17-20. But he ignores that the appellate court elected not to review this issue because the record and briefing were inadequate:

Sotaniemi's 2016 earning statement shows only that she received a \$94,629.32 "stock award spread." And although Sotaniemi's 2016 W-2 appears to match up with her earning statement, the record does not address the nature of Sotaniemi's stock grant. Specifically, the record does not address whether Sotaniemi actually had possession of any stock or whether there are any restrictions upon Sotaniemi selling any stock actually delivered to her. Additionally, Ribnicky submits limited briefing to address whether a stock grant should be considered income to determine child support. He acknowledges that a "stock spread award" is not the same thing as the stock option addressed in *Ayyad*, and he concedes this is an issue of first impression. His citations to out-of-state cases are unhelpful without comparison and analysis of the out-of-state child support statutes.

Unpub. Op. at 21-22 (citations omitted). Without more about the nature of the asset at issue, the court simply could not review its distribution. *Id.* This is in keeping with well-settled law that appellate court's need not consider arguments lacking adequate briefing or record support. *See, e.g., Green Collar Club v. Dep't of Revenue*, 3 Wn. App. 2d 82, 93, 413 P.3d 1083 (2018); *Dickson*, 132 Wn. App. at 733 n.10. This Court too should deny review.

CONCLUSION

This Court should deny review.